1955

## Marinus Johnson and Arlin Davidson v. Joseph Koyle et al : Brief of Appellant, Duke Page

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Prior, to the 21st day of May, 1940, the plaintiff Marinus Johnson, was the owner of Water Filing No. 9873, filed in the office of the State Engineer of Utah, which he had acquired from one William F. Pratt and one Owen (Tr. P. 22). At that time the plaintiff, together with one Joseph Koyle, who is joined in this action as a party defendant, had

a written agreement with one William F. Pratt for the acquisition of 440 acres of land, which is to be hereinafter described, located in Juab County, Utah. Pratt, prior to the time that this agreement was entered into, was homesteading the property, and had merely a right of homestead but did not have a marketable title, and would not have one until the homestead was perfected, which was contingent upon the homestead requirements of the law of the United States and upon Pratt surviving to perfect the homestead. With this in mind, on the 21st day of May, 1940, the plaintiff, Marinus Johnson, and the defendant, Duke Page, entered into a written agreement which contemplated the use of the land which was subject to the homestead to be made by and perfected by Pratt. This agreement set forth, among other things, that Marinus Johnson was the owner of Water Filing No. 9873, and that in order for the Water Filing to be of any value, it would be necessary for the parties to construct certain dikes, levies and ditches from the source of water in Juab County, known as Baker's Hot Springs, to the land then owned by Pratt, which was to be acquired under the contract between Johnson and Pratt, to Johnson and for which Page was to receive an interest when it was so perfected. The purpose of the contract was that the defendant, Page, was to furnish money and equipment necessary to build the dikes and levies and that the plaintiff would contribute services, and that the defendant, Page, would be paid for his advancement by receiving one half of the water right and improvements, together with one half of the property that was to be acquired by the contract. In other words, both parties were to share equally in the water, improvements and the property that was acquired and in the

contributions made, even though the defendant, Page, was to advance the money at that time.

Thereafter, during the summer of 1940, Page sent men and equipment to work upon the canals and levies and dikes mentioned in the contract and that the plaintiff, Johnson, furnished a truck, and the men worked for a period of approximately twenty-eight days and that during this period Page paid for all gasoline, oil and supplies for this project. There is a conflict of evidence as to whether the project was completed; however, it is the position of the defendant that it was (Tr. P. 54, Tr. P. 112). At the end of this period both parties withdrew their equipment and the men from the job and it never again was resumed. Shortly thereafter, William Pratt died without having acquired a patent or title to the land, which was part of his agreement with Johnson.

Approximately three years later the widow of Pratt received title to the land by perfecting the homestead, and she conveyed, on May 7, 1943, this land to the defendant, Duke Page, for \$440.00. On October 4, 1944, the defendant, Page, entered into a written agreement with one Oran Lewis by which he was to sell and convey 440 acres of land, together with his interest in the Water Filing, for a price of \$3,750.00. The said Lewis paid Page \$350.00 and received a deed to one forty-acre piece of property, to-wit:

Northeast  $\frac{1}{4}$  of the Southeast  $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 10,  
Township 14 South, Range 8 West.

At this time the agreement between Page and Lewis was terminated by a mutual consent in respect to the remainder of the property.

During the years 1944 through 1954, Page paid the taxes upon the said property, which has been in his name, and has made all other and necessary expenditures to the maintenance and operation of the property and has held the title ostensibly as sole owner. That on October 1, 1949, Water Filing No. 9873 lapsed because Page failed to submit a proof of use or obtain a further extension of time to do so, and that after the application lapsed, the plaintiff, Davidson, filed upon the water and appropriated it to his own use. Arlin Davidson, one of the plaintiffs in this case, also acquired title to the forty acres sold by Page to Lewis and, in addition, claims title to the property in question as a result of an agreement entered into between himself and the plaintiff, Marinus Johnson, and his wife, Katy Johnson, on the 27th day of May, 1952, whereby the said Johnson did sell and assign and convey a one-half interest in the property described in the plaintiffs' complaint.

On the 26th day of September, 1952, suit was commenced by the plaintiffs in the District Court of Juab County, State of Utah, to determine the right, title and interest of each of the above named plaintiffs and defendants in the following described property located near Baker's Hot Spring, Juab County, State of Utah:

Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Sec. 10; North Half of the Southwest Quarter, North Half and the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, all in Sec. 11; East Half and the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter; Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter; Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, all in Sec. 14.

All of said property being in Township, 14 South, Range 8 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian.



**STATEMENT OF POINTS****POINT 1**

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFFS HAD ANY CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, THAT COULD BE ENFORCED.

**POINT 2**

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION OR FIND FOR THE DEFENDANT, PAGE, FOR REASON THAT THE SAME WAS BARRED BY LACHES AND THE STATUTE OF LIMITATION.

**POINT 3**

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TITLE TO PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY PAGE WAS HELD SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF JOHNSON AS JOINT ADVENTURER UNDER AGREEMENT — AND IN IMPOSING A TRUST UPON ALL THE PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY PAGE FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PLAINTIFFS.

**POINT 4**

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN ASSESSING ONE-HALF OF THE TAXES AGAINST PAGE.

**ARGUMENT****POINT 1**

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFFS HAD ANY CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, THAT COULD BE ENFORCED.

In order for the plaintiffs to recover anything under the contract, they must show that the same was in good standing, at least from their point of view, and that the defendant has no legal reason for non-performance or non-compliance. This is the basic premise to this entire suit.

The plaintiff by his pleading admits that the land in question was the land included in that agreement between himself, Joseph Koyle and one William F. Pratt (See paragraph 3 of plaintiffs' second Amended Complaint) and that the title to this land was to be perfected by Pratt, who was then homesteading the same. This contract was dated March 8, 1939, and was for the obvious purpose of uniting this land, as soon as the patent was obtained, with the water to be secured under the plaintiff's application No. 9873, which apparently had been filed by Pratt to be used on the land Pratt was homesteading. The plaintiff, at that time, had commenced the construction work on the dikes and levies that later became an essential part of the contract between Johnson and Page. This fact is rightfully concluded in the court's Findings of Fact Nos. 1 and 2.

"That on the 21st day of May, 1940, the plaintiff, Marinus Johnson, was the owner of water filing No. 9873 filed in the office of the State Engineer of Utah and the water rights represented thereby being an application filed by William F. Pratt to appropriate 19 c. f. s. of water from a spring known as Baker Hot Spring for irrigation of lands adjacent thereto."

"That at that time said plaintiff together with the defendant, Joseph Koyle, had a written agreement with said William F. Pratt for the acquisition by said Johnson and Koyle of 440 acres of land described in plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint, which land said Pratt

was then occupying or claiming under some preferential entry right.”

In other words, the same 440 acres of ground encompassed by the plaintiffs’ complaint and the Court’s findings 1 and 2 is the same 440 acres referred to in the Court’s Conclusion of Law No. 2:

“That by reason of this the title acquired by Page to the 440 acres of land involved herein should be considered to be held subject to the rights of Johnson as a joint adventurer under said agreement.”

The next premise to consider, then, is what the parties intended by their contract of May 21, 1950, which contract this suit was based upon. Obviously and admittedly, the parties intended that Johnson would initially put up his water application and Page would put up money and equipment to build the levy. Now, what were they going to put the water on and for what purpose were they going to build the dikes and levies? The answer to this question is obvious—the land which Johnson was to acquire from Pratt by contract, which acquisition was conditioned upon Pratt perfecting his title by homesteading it (See Transcript Page 55).

It was for this reason that the contract (Exhibit “A”) contained the following language:

“and the second party shall also be enttield to an equal one-half interest in any and all lands or interest therein, or contracts with respect to lands or interests therein, **owned or possessed by the First Party**, or to the acquired in any lands or property connected with or pertaining to the appropriation **within the project contemplated.**”

(Emphasis added)

Although the above cited passage is not clear in and of itself the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of the Court and the circumstances surrounding this contract show conclusively that the property intended by this agreement was the property to be obtained by Johnson under the contract. How else were they going to use the water?

“In the interpretation of an agreement the surrounding circumstances at the time it was made should be considered for the purpose of ascertaining its meaning.”

Daly v. Old, 35 Utah 74, 99P. 460.

For the plaintiff to contend that there was no specific piece of land intended or contemplated (Tr. Page 15, 23, 25; Page 96) is contrary to both law in fact. In the first place he says (Tr. Page 15) “and we went down to Delta. He looked the property over”, which indicates that a particular piece of property was intended and an integral part of the contract. In the second place, the court is charged with judicial knowledge that a water filing without land to beneficially use it upon is of absolutely no value. The plaintiff admits he had no other land other than that contracted for, and, consequently, how can he say he merely owned a water application (Tr. Page 15). You can’t own that without the land to put it on, therefore, when Pratt died and it became obvious that Johnson could not perform his part of the agreement, the contract terminated for lack of a subject matter.

The whole contract was contingent upon Pratt perfecting title which in turn Johnson would get by contract; otherwise, what was Page to get for his efforts? Although the language of the contract is broad it is obvious that no one ever intended that the contract would have a continuing

effect to make Page a trustee of property acquired at a later date by Page, not through Johnson or Pratt, but from another party.

If the court's rational in respect to Conclusion No. 2 were sound then Page would become an unwilling trustee for Johnson if he acquired the property by any means and at any time afterward—even if he acquired it by inheritance, purchase or foreclosure.

This, surely, is attaching a meaning far different than the language and intent of the parties anticipated.

The true fact is, that when Pratt died the contract ceased to be enforceable, for a condition precedent to liability had become impossible to obtain—to-wit: Receiving title from Pratt. This situation is usually referred to as a destruction of means of performance contemplated but not contracted for. The contract could not be performed because of the impossibility of obtaining title from the source contemplated. It cannot be said that the contract was intended to forever bar the defendant, Page, from forever dealing with the property without becoming a trustee for Johnson of such interest that he might obtain.

The only correct conclusion that the court could come to was that the contract ceased upon Pratt's death because of a supervening impossibility of performance.

The Restatement sets forth the rule as follows:

“Where the assumed possibility of a desired object or effect to be attained by either party to a contract forms the basis on which both parties enter into it, and this object or effect is or surely will be frustrated, a promisor who is without fault in causing the frustra-

tion, and who is harmed thereby, is discharged from the duty of performing his promise unless a contrary intention appears.”

Restatement Rule 288.

This is exactly the situation in the principal case. Both Johnson and Page assumed that the land in question was that to be obtained from Pratt. If the reverse were true we would have in effect a contract to build levies, dikes and canals to be used on certain lands, one-half of which lands were to belong to each of the parties to the contract if and when either of them acquired them. This is incongruous and inconsistent with the facts.

Another analogy to the principal situation which is also in point is Restatement Rule 281, which is as follows:

“In promises for an agreed exchange, a promisor is discharged from the duty of performing his promise if substantial performance of the return promise is impossible because of the non-existence, destruction or impairment of the requisite subject matter or means of performance, provided that the promisor has not himself wrongfully caused the impossibility or has not assumed the duty that the subject-matter or means of performance shall exist unimpaired.”

Illustration 2 under the above citation is a good analogy to appellant's argument that because the first contract failed because of the impossibility of obtaining the subject matter, the fact that it later becomes possible does not renew or restore the contract.



## POINT 2

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSE OF ACTION OR FIND FOR THE DEFENDANT, PAGE, FOR REASON THAT THE SAME WAS BARRED BY LACHES AND THE STATUTE OF LIMITATION.

The law in Utah in respect to the Statute of Limitations upon an action based upon contract is as follows:

U. C. A. 78-12-23—Within six years:

1. An action for mesne profits of real estate.
2. An action upon any contract, obligation or liability founded upon an instrument in writing, except those mentioned in the preceding section.

In matters involving equitable problems the question of laches is usually resolved on the basis of the Statute of Limitations in respect to similar legal questions, and the defense of the Statute of Limitations includes the defense of laches.

The court, in effect, found that in the summer of 1940 the defendant, Page, recalled his employees from the work project of building the levies and canals and that thereafter the work was never resumed. There can be no other conclusion from this finding of the court other than that the court concluded that Page breached his contract during the summer of 1940 by withdrawing his men. If so, there was a breach of contract which the plaintiff could have sued upon and recovered such damage as he, at that time, had sustained. It is a primary principle of law that a party has the duty to minimize his damages and cannot sit back and idly wait for his damages to magnify and then expect to recover the increased amount. This is such an elementary

point of law, we do not believe it is necessary to give to the Court citations; consequently, if the plaintiff has a cause of action, it arose in the summer of 1940, and he should have commenced his litigation at that time. Subsequently to that, on the 7th day of May, 1943, the court found that Page obtained title to the property, which, if he did so contrary to the purposes of the contract entered into between he and the plaintiff, Johnson, constituted an additional breach, which at that time would have allowed Johnson to have brought his suit for an accounting and for a division of the property, if he claims such was the case and his damages then would have been the same as they are now and, in fact, there would not have been taxes that have accrued of which one-half have been assessed against the plaintiff.

Johnson admits that shortly after Page received the property from Mrs. Pratt that he demanded a half interest, but that Page refused him (Tr. P. 24, L. 10 to L. 26). That is when he should have brought his suit, for it was then that his cause of action, if any, accrued. In other words, as early as May 7, 1943, and, in fact, during the summer of 1940, this action could reasonably have been commenced and should have been commenced, and it is rather late and untimely for the plaintiff to come to court at this time and ask for relief and damages. There is no question that if the allegations of the plaintiff are true and if the Findings of the court are true, that on October 4, 1944, there was an additional breach, in that Page conveyed all of the property acquired to one Lewis for a price of \$3,750.00. At that time, there would have been no question but what the plaintiff had a cause of action, if the other allegations contained in his complaint are true, which the appellant does not, by this argument, admit. Nothing has accrued since October 4,



1944, that has changed his situation any or that has given the plaintiff any new cause of action, and, in fact, all the rights that had accrued, had accrued at this time without question. It is obvious from this, then, that he should have commenced his suit, in any event, not later than six years from the 4th day of October, 1944. The court doesn't even contend anything different than this, for the court failed to make a finding that the joint adventure, if that is what it was, continued after October 4, 1944, and, in fact, the court found by its Conclusion of Law No. 3 as follows:

"That by reason of Page's failure to furnish men and equipment for completing the levee and canal as agreed by him and his failure to pay necessary fees and costs to complete the appropriation of water referred to in said agreement and by reason of his failure to make any offer or tender herein to complete such work or to reinstate or recover such water filing he should be considered to have abandoned his right to continue as a joint adventurer in respect to the property and project herein involved."

You will note that by the above conclusion, the defendant, Page, is said to have abandoned his right to continue the joint adventure by his failures, as stated therein. When did those failures take place? In the summer of 1940. If that were the situation, then that is when the breach took place. How, then, can there be any defense under any circumstances to the statutes of limitations having barred the plaintiffs' case? It was pleaded, it was proved, and the court failed and neglected, and, in fact, refused to make a finding upon it.

The Utah Supreme Court has considered this matter on many occasions. Perhaps the most clear enunciation of

the rule was made in the case of *State Tax Commission vs. Spanish Fork*, found in 99 Utah 177, 100 Pacific Second 575, for the court said:

“The general rule is that an action accrues at the time it becomes remedial in the Courts, that is, when recourse to the courts will render full remedy.”

The question is then, when did the cause of action accrue? The rule is that it accrues at the time when it becomes remedial in the Courts, that is when the claim is in such condition that the court can proceed and give judgment if the claim is established. In *Sweetser vs. Fox*, 43 Utah 40, 134 Pacific 599, we find: “It is a rule of universal application that a cause or right of action arises at the moment an action may be maintained to enforce it and that the Statute of Limitations is then set in motion. The test, therefore, is: Can an action be maintained upon the particular cause of action in question? If it can, the statutes begins to run.”

Nothing can be said contrary to these rules, and it is obvious that these rules apply to this particular case. There may be some question as to whether there was an accrual of a cause of action. The ordinary interpretation of the accrual is as follows:

“A cause of action upon a covenant accrues as in other cases at the moment of the default on the part of the covenantor. That is, upon its failure to do the thing agreed to which constitutes the breach. Not until then can an action be brought for breach of covenant. The question of the accrual of the cause of action on a covenant is important. Not only in determining the prematurity of the commencement of the action, but also the question whether it is brought within the time limited for bringing such action. Action for breach of covenant are, of course, subject to the

defense of the statutes of limitations, if not brought within the time limited by the statutes for bringing such action."

14 Am. Jur. 513, Sec. 37.

In the case of *Hunter v. Hunter*, 361 Mo. 799, 237 SWnd 100, 24 ALR 2nd 611, the court said:

"Statutes of Limitations are favored in the law, and cannot be avoided unless the party seeking to so brings himself strictly within some exception." (Citations) "Such exceptions are strictly construed and are not enlarged upon by the Courts upon consideration of apparent hardship."

### POINT 3

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE TITLE TO PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY PAGE WAS HELD SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF JOHNSON AS JOINT ADVENTURER UNDER AGREEMENT — AND IN IMPOSING A TRUST UPON ALL THE PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY PAGE FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PLAINTIFFS.

The court erred in finding that the title acquired by Page was held subject to the rights of Johnson as joint adventurer under the said agreement. In imposing a trust upon Page for all of the property acquired by him and making it for the benefit of Johnson, it is obvious that this finding is grossly unfair. Even assuming the worst, that Page's acquisition of the property was a breach of a fiduciary relationship, and even assuming that it was done by fraud, with an intent to appropriate something that belonged to another, can it be said that Johnson can sit back for a pe-

riod of fifteen years and do nothing about it and contribute nothing to the acquisition of the property or the expenses of maintaining the property, or to the taxes or to anything else and yet, when he sees that there is something to be gained by it, to come in and claim that he is a joint adventurer and that a trust is imposed? In other words, it gives Johnson the opportunity of becoming a joint adventurer or a title holder or the beneficiary of a trust, without risking any of his own time or capital.

In the event that the acquisition by Page had been a failure and an unprofitable venture, and, in fact, a losing proposition, it is quite obvious that Johnson would have claimed that there was no joint venture; that the same had been abandoned in 1940, and that he had no interest whatever in the property. In other words, the contention of Johnson in this case is obviously a one-way street. Of course, it is rather universally held that the plaintiff in such instances cannot recover for the reasons stated.

In the case of *Shulkin vs. Shulkin*, 16 NE 2d 634, quoted in 118 ALR 632, it is said:

“that the contention that the wrong doer should be excluded from participating in the profits was rejected and a partner who wrongfully appropriated firm property and made secret profits for which he was required to account to the partnership, was held entitled to a share in such profits with his co-partner.”

The court took the view that the correct principle was that the innocent partner should be put as nearly as possible in the same position he would have occupied if there had been no wrong doing, and that this result would be accomplished by giving him that portion of the misappropriated

property and secret profits to which he would have been entitled if the misappropriated property had been allowed to remain with the partnership and the secret profits had been earned by the partnership in the usual course of the business. In other words, by giving the innocent partner or joint adventurer all of the profits gained or all of the property acquired is an undue penalty, and is in a sense an unjust enrichment. No one would argue that the wrong doing joint adventurer should not be responsible for any damages he has caused the innocent party, but to take everything that has been acquired by him and gained by him and give it to the innocent party does not make a right, but just commits another wrong, and, as the saying goes, "Two wrongs never make a right."

In 80 ALR, Page 88, it is said:

"Where one who has abandoned a joint adventure is permitted to share in the subsequently earned profits, damages for abandonment of the enterprise should be deducted from his share."

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