1955

Marinus Johnson and Arlin Davidson v. Joseph Koyle et al : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point I.

THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN MARINUS JOHNSON AND DUKE PAGE CONSTITUTED AN AGREEMENT FOR A JOINT ADVENTURE AND THE PARTIES TO SAID AGREEMENT BECAME JOINT ADVENTURERS.

A joint adventure has been defined as “an association of two or more persons to carry out a single business enterprise for profit.” (Tompkins v. Comm. of Int. Rev. (C.C.A. 4th) 97 F. (2d) 396; Keiswetter v. Rubenstein, 235 Mich. 36, 209 N.W. 154, 48 A.L.R. 1049; Fletcher v. Fletcher, 206 Mich. 153, 172 N.W. 436; Elliott v. Murphy Timber Co., 117 Ore. 387; 244 P. 91, 48 A.L.R. 1043. See also 63 A.L.R. 910). It has its origin in contract, and can exist only by the voluntary agreement of the parties to it. (Edgerly v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of U. S., 191 N.E. 415, 287 Mass. 238; Henning v. Cox, 148 F. (2d) 586; Campagna v. Market Street Ry. Co., 149 P. (2d) 281, 24 Cal. (2d) 304.) There must be a community of interest and a common purpose in the performance of the agreement. (Eagle Star Ins. Co. v. Bean, 134 Fed. (2d) 755; Campagna v. Market St. Ry. Co., 149 P. (2d) 281, 24 Cal. (2d) 304.)

In the instant case the parties entered into a contract to develop an irrigation project for profit. Both of the parties were to perform certain acts and both were to be equally interested in the project. Clearly the parties were joint adventurers, and the District Court

was correct in so holding. (See also 30 Am. Jur. 277, 678, 679 and 48 C.J.S. 809 and 816.)

Point II.

THE HOLDER OF THE LEGAL TITLE TO REAL ESTATE ACQUIRED PURSUANT TO A CONTRACT OF JOINT ADVENTURE HOLDS THE TITLE AS TRUSTEE FOR HIMSELF AND FOR HIS CO-ADVENTURERS.

Co-adventurers have a fiduciary duty toward each other. The nature of this duty was aptly described by Chief Justice Cardozo in the case of *Meinhard v. Salmon*, 249 N.Y. 458, 164 N.E. 545, 62 A.L.R. 1, in which he said:

“Joint adventurers, like copartners, owe to one another, while the enterprise continues, the duty of the finest loyalty. Many forms of conduct permissible in a workaday world for those acting at arm’s length are forbidden to those bound by fiduciary ties. A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals of the market place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor the most sensitive, is then the standard of behavior. As to this there has developed a tradition that is unbending and inveterate. Uncompromising rigidity has been the attitude of courts of equity when petitioned to undermine the rule of undivided loyalty by the “disintegrating erosion” of particular exceptions. *Wendt v. Fischer*, 243 N. Y. 439, 444, 154 N. E. 303. Only thus has the level of conduct for fiduciaries been kept at a level higher than that trodden by the crowd.”

The Utah Supreme Court, in the case of *Forbes v. Butler, et al.*, 66 Utah 373, has stated that “A ‘joint

venture' is in the nature of a partnership ordinarily, but not necessarily, limited to a single transaction, and subject to law of partnership so far as substantial rights are concerned."

In the case of *Rossman v. Marsh*, 286 N.W. 83, 287 Mich. 720, the Michigan Court, quoting *Corpus Juris*, discusses the status of property acquired under an agreement of joint adventure where title is taken in the name of one of the coadventurers. The Michigan Court states:

"It is immaterial in whose name the title to real estate purchased with funds put into a joint adventure, or a contract to be performed by joint adventurers, is taken, for the use of the member's name gives him no legal rights he would not otherwise enjoy, and subjects the property to no greater claim from his individual creditors than his interest therein can satisfy; nor do the other members suffer any diminution of their equitable rights to share in the property by reason of the fact that the legal title is taken in the name of one of them only. The holder of the legal title becomes a trustee for the benefit of his coadventurers, and is bound to deal with the property in that capacity. 33 C.P. pp. 858, 859." (See also: *Murphy v. Craft*, 147 So. 176, 226 Ala. 407; *Endries v. Paddock*, 271 N.Y.S. 848, 196 N.E. 562; *Barry v. Kern*, 199 N.W. 77, 184 Wis. 266; 48 C.J.S. 834; 30 Am. Jur. 692; 61 A.L.R. 24; *Lane v. Peterson*, 68 Utah 585, 251 P. 374.)

In the instant case *Johnson and Page* were joint adventurers. They had a contract, which both acknowledge, to develop an irrigation project. Under this contract *Page* was to supply the funds necessary to pur-

chase any property not specifically described in the contract (Plfs. Ex. 3, R-36, R-37 and R-60). The land here under controversy was acquired in connection with the irrigation project. In order that the land might be acquired both Johnson and Page visited Eli Taylor, a land attorney (T-55), both Johnson and Page aided in perfecting the homestead so that the land could be conveyed to them (R-61). After the homestead was perfected by Mrs. Pratt the land was deeded to Page. Clearly Page held the land as trustee for himself and for Johnson as coadventurers.

Point III.

BY REASON OF PAGE'S BREACH OF CONTRACT AND WRONGFUL REFUSAL TO CONTINUE WITH THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE IRRIGATION PROJECT, JOHNSON WAS ENTITLED TO EXCLUDE PAGE FROM FURTHER PARTICIPATION IN THE PROJECT, TO REIMBURSE PAGE FOR PAGE'S ACTUAL EXPENSES IN ACQUIRING THE LAND HERE UNDER CONTROVERSY AND TO PROCEED ALONE OR WITH OTHERS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROJECT.

When a joint adventurer repudiates the contract of joint adventure and refuses to perform his contractual obligations he forfeits his right to participate in the joint adventure project. The rule is stated in 11 A.L.R. 432 as follows :

“The rule seems to be that failure of a party to a joint adventure to contribute his share of the expense is ground for abandonment of the enterprise by his coadventurers, and his exclusion from

further operations by them, provided they take definite steps to effect that result.”

Thus, the New York Court, in *Westwood v. Crissey*, 139 App. Div. 841, 124 N. Y. Supp. 97, 11 A.L.R. 435, stated as follows:

“a member of a firm who absolutely refuses to contribute his part of the necessary capital to carry on the firm business excludes himself from the firm and from any right to participate in its profits, if any there be.”

In the case of *Miller v. Chambers*, 73 Iowa 236, 5 Am. St. Rep. 675, 34 N.W. 830, the Iowa Supreme Court held that:

“where a member of a joint adventure for the prospecting of coal mines and mining coal undertook to appropriate the assets of the concern and carry them into a corporation to be formed with the aid of a third person, the court held that, by his active repudiation of the partnership contract and opposition of its interests, he had forfeited his right to share in the partnership assets.” (11 A.L.R. 433.)

American Jurisprudence adopts this view. In 30 Am. Jur. 690 the author states as follows:

“The rule seems to be that failure of a party to a joint adventure to contribute his share of the expenses is ground for abandonment of the enterprise by his coadventurers, and his exclusion from further operations by them, provided they take definite steps to effect that result. (Anno: 11 A.L.R. 432, L.R.A. 1918B 678.) If one of the parties refuses to perform his obligations, his

associates may either terminate their relations with him and themselves carry on the enterprise, with an action against him for damages for his breach, or they can hold the defaulter to the obligations of his contract and sue him for money or property agreed to be contributed to the common fund, or to be supplied for a specified purpose. But they cannot do both of these things. (Tompkins v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue (C.C.A. 4th) 97 F. (2d) 396, citing R.C.L.)

In this respect the court's attention is called to the following cases: Snyder v. O'Beirne, 132 Mich. 340, 93 N.W. 872; Turtur v. Isserman, 2 N.J. Misc. 1084, 128 Atl. 151; Goss v. Lanin, 170 Iowa 57, 152 N.W. 43; Yeager's Appeal, 100 Pa. 88; Denver v. Roane, 99 U.S. 356, 25 L.Ed. 476; Quinn v. Quinn, 81 Cal. 14, 22 P. 264; Devine v. Melton, 153 N.Y.S. 715; Schnitzer v. Josephthal, 202 N.Y.S. 77, 208 App. Div. 769.

The defaulting coadventurer, on expulsion from the coadventure project, is only entitled to a return of the amount which he contributed to assets still remaining as part of the coadventure project. In the case of Kaufman v. Catzen, 81 W. Va. 1, L.R.A. 1918B 672, 94 S.E. 388, the court in discussing a situation where a coadventurer had abandoned the enterprise, stated as follows:

"Such conduct may have afforded him ample ground for rescission of the contract, but he was bound to elect whether he would rescind and repay the money, thereby putting Kaufman in statu quo, or seek compensation for any damages he may have suffered in consequence of Kaufman's neglect, default, or misconduct in some other way."

In the case of *Turtur v. Isserman* (supra) 2 N.J. Misc. 1084, 128 Atl. 151, the court, in discussing this problem, states:

“... where such default is made in the form of an actual abandonment of the enterprise by the defaulting member, and a notification that he will have nothing further to do with it, the remaining members might be entitled in equity, where they take over the burden of supplying the deficit of the default, to exclude the defaulting member from participation in profits, or losses, beyond his capital paid in, so that, where the venture proved profitable, their obligation to the defaulting member would be only to return his paid-in capital, with or without interest . . .” (See 80 A.L.R. 48, 50; 62 A.L.R. 24; 11 A.L.R. 434.)

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has enunciated the rule regarding defaulting coadventurers and partners as follows:

“A partner who has not fully and fairly performed the partnership agreement on his part has no standing in a court of equity to enforce any right under the agreement.” (*Karrick v. Hannaman*, 168 U. S. 328; 18 S. Ct. 135; 42 L. Ed. 484.)

In the instant case Page breached the contract of joint adventure and then completely repudiated the same. His agreement called for him to furnish men, equipment and funds to complete the system of levies and canals in connection with the irrigation project, and to furnish the necessary fees and costs to complete the appropriation of water. This the trial court found that he did not do, and the water filing finally lapsed. (R-61)

Page further agreed to advance the necessary funds to complete the project and to acquire any land which might be acquired in connection with the project. The stated purpose of the contract was that Johnson did not have the funds to do these things but that Page did have such funds. (Plf. Ex. 3, R-36) Nevertheless, after Page acquired title to the land here under dispute in 1944 he refused to continue with the irrigation project unless Johnson paid him half of the sum he had expended. (T-99 and T-103)

In 1949, the water filing lapsed, and 19 c.f.s. of water was lost as well as dikes and canals constructed in connection therewith at a cost estimated by Johnson and Page to be in excess of \$7,000.00. (R-62, Plf. Ex. 3, R-35, R-60)

Johnson performed every part of the contract by him to be performed. He conveyed one-half his interest in the water filing to Page (Plf. Ex. 4, R-60) and in addition gave Page a Power of Attorney to deal with the other half interest. (Plf. Ex. 5, R-61) He provided a truck for the work to be done on the levies and worked on the levies until Page withdrew the funds and equipment. (R-61) *There is no showing that he was not at all times ready to return to the project to aid in completing the work.*

Johnson was perfectly justified in excluding Page from any further participation in the project, and this he did by filing the instant law suit in 1952. He was

further justified in seeking new capital and new partners with which and with whom to carry on the project.

After the water filing lapsed, in 1949, plaintiff, Arlin Davidson, filed on the identical water. (R-62) Thereafter, Johnson and Page entered into a contract concerning the irrigation project. (R-62)

No profits have ever been realized from the irrigation project. As of the time that this suit was filed the only asset belonging to the coadventure project was the land here under dispute. The only right which Page could possibly have had in the assets of the coadventure project was the amount which he had contributed to create any such assets. This the trial court awarded to Page. He was awarded the sum of \$440.00 (plus interest) which was paid to Mrs. Pratt for the deed to the property; he was awarded the amount which was expended for land attorney services; and in addition, he was awarded one half of the taxes paid on the land.

It is respectfully submitted that the holdings of the trial court were correct in each and every respect and should be affirmed by this court.

CLYDE & MECHAM

By James L. Barker, Jr.

Attorneys for Plaintiff-

Respondents

351 South State Street

Salt Lake City, Utah